

Materials & Products Taskforce

Inclusive Circularity

Creating decent and fair jobs in the EU

funded by



The University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership

CISL is an impact-led institute within the University of Cambridge that activates leadership globally to transform economies for people, nature and climate. Through its global network and hubs in Cambridge, Cape Town and Brussels, CISL works with leaders and innovators across business, finance and government to accelerate action for a sustainable future. Trusted since 1988 for its rigour and pioneering commitment to learning and collaboration, the Institute creates safe spaces to challenge and support those with the power to act.

CLG Europe

CLG Europe develops credible, ambitious positions amongst its membership and deploys effective strategic communications to engage with the highest levels of policy audiences. CLG Europe is diverse in its membership and representative of Europe in both geography and sector, welcoming the innovative talent of SMEs as well as leading established companies. The group works closely with policymakers – particularly the Green Growth Group of EU climate and environment ministers, and supportive Members of the European Parliament through its Green Growth Partnership. The group also maintains a network of sister groups across the EU and works in partnership with some of the largest business-focused organisations in support of climate action as one of the founders of the We Mean Business Coalition, for which it provides the EU policy lead.

Taskforce for climate neutral and circular materials and products

The Taskforce for climate neutral and circular materials and products was created in September 2021, with the aim of driving forward policy action on sustainable materials by bringing together a group of progressive businesses across sectors and value chains. The group brings together companies that are actively committed to producing and using climate neutral and sustainable materials, and who want to work together to promote and support EU-wide measures to decarbonise material production and use.

We Mean Business Coalition

The We Mean Business Coalition is a non-profit coalition working with the world's most influential businesses to take action on climate change. The Coalition is a group of seven non-profit organisations: BSR, CDP, Ceres, CLG Europe, Climate Group, The B Team and WBCSD. Together, the Coalition catalyses business and policy action to halve emissions by 2030 and accelerate an inclusive transition to a net zero economy by 2050.

Authors

Krisztina Zálnoky, Bianca Drotleff, Tahmid Chowdhury, Diana Potjomkina and Sanna Markkanen (CISL).

Citing this report

University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL). (2023). *Inclusive Circularity: Creating decent and fair jobs in the EU*. Cambridge, UK: CLG Europe.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge the contributions of numerous people to the preparation of this study, including the employees of Ball Corporation, Interface, Hydro, ROCKWOOL and Signify.

While every effort has been made to faithfully reflect and build on the inputs provided, this paper does not necessarily reflect the views of these companies. We also wish to acknowledge the many helpful comments of reviewers from #SustainablePublicAffairs, IndustriAll, ETUI, EPC, The B Team, the We Mean Business Coalition, the Taskforce for Climate Neutral and Circular Materials and Products and the University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership.

Special thanks are extended to Alex Braley, Nicolas Remilien, Dominic Gogol, Javier Gonzalez, Santeri Palomäki, Clemence Sachter, Sophie Grenade, Bela Galgoczi, Laura Rayner, Sierra Leder, Martina Mazzini, Martin Porter, Anna Barford, Jakob T. Pruess, Eliot Whittington, Ursula Woodburn, Jie Zhou, Caroline Lee, Phil Hazell, Mohsen Gul, Anum Sheikh and Alison French.

Disclaimer

The opinions expressed here are those of the authors and do not represent an official position of the Corporate Leaders Groups, CISL, the wider University of Cambridge, or clients.

Copyright

Copyright © 2023 University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL). Some rights reserved. The material featured in this publication is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International Licence (CC BY-NC-SA 4.0).

Contents

Key terms and concepts4					
Exec	Executive summary5				
1.	Introduction	7			
2.	Jobs needed to support the transition to a circular economy	9			
3.	Decent and fair jobs in the circular economy	11			
4.	The links between EU policies on circularity and social issues	15			
4.1.	EU headline ambitions	16			
4.2.	Social aspects of EU circular economy policies	16			
4.3.	Circular economy aspects of EU social policies	18			
4.4.	Evaluation of links between circular economy and social policies	19			
4.5.	Financing a socially just circular economy	19			
5.	The role of private sector businesses in creating decent and fair jobs	21			
6.	Conclusion and policy recommendations	24			
Refe	References				

Key terms and concepts

Circular economy is an "economic system that uses a systemic approach to maintain a circular flow of resources, by regenerating, retaining or adding to their value, while contributing to sustainable development."¹

Decent jobs/work "involves opportunities for work that is productive and delivers a fair income, security in the workplace and social protection for all, better prospects for personal development and social integration, freedom for people to express their concerns, organize and participate in the decisions that affect their lives and equality of opportunity and treatment for all women and men."²

Informal economy "refers to all economic activities by workers and economic units that are – in law or in practice – not covered or insufficiently covered by formal arrangements."³

Net job creation represents the difference between job creation and job destruction.

Social economy "encompasses a variety of businesses, organisations and different legal entities. They share the objective of systematically putting people first, producing a positive impact on local communities and pursuing a social cause."⁴

Social economy organisations can include non-profit associations, cooperatives, mutual societies, associations and foundations and social enterprises."⁵

Social justice "denotes the fair and just relationship between the individual and society."⁶

Social market economy is "generally understood to refer to a compromise between free markets on the one hand and social-oriented policies (including social dialogue) on the other."⁷

Executive summary

The adoption of a circular economy is essential for reaching climate neutrality by 2050. The roll-out of critical renewable energy infrastructure, decarbonising transport and improving energy efficiency have been major EU priorities. These measures play a critical role in the climate transition, but they most directly address only 55% of emissions. The circular economy tackles the remaining 45% of emissions deriving from material production – these emissions come from producing the cars, clothes, food and other products we use every day.

The European economy is going through a profound shift towards sustainability to achieve its ambition for climate neutrality. One of the key levers of this transition is the circular economy. Circular economy refers to the reorganisation of how we consume and use materials and products more efficiently, keeping them in use for longer and repurposing them innovatively.

The demand for raw material extraction has tripled since the 1970s to 92 billion tonnes in 2017. Reaching the ambitious climate goals set by the Paris Agreement will be impossible unless global resource emissions from excessive production and consumption are addressed.

The need to prioritise the circular economy is gaining traction among European policymakers due to the opportunity it offers to reduce raw material extraction, consumption, waste and emissions. The transition to a circular economy also brings the opportunity to create new jobs for Europeans. However, the nature and quality of these jobs has not been examined in much detail. In particular, there is little analysis around the potential distributional impacts and social implications of the transition to a more circular economy within the EU borders.

Moreover, the ripple effects of circular economy policies, adopted in the EU, on jobs globally must be closely considered. Resources and capacity building should be deployed to support the transition of countries in the Global South. Without clearly addressing these impacts and implications for people, we risk hampering progress towards global climate goals.

Businesses and financial institutions have become increasingly engaged on the importance of addressing the social aspects of a circular economy, particularly on creating decent jobs and ensuring inclusive employment both in the EU and globally. To address this momentum and scale up their action, comprehensive, coherent and clear policies are needed.

This policy briefing provides an overview of the types of jobs that are needed in a circular economy, the opportunities and barriers around creating decent and inclusive jobs, the links between circular economy and social policies, and the private sector's views on this topic.

This briefing puts forward the following policy recommendations:



Assess the distributional impacts of an increased share of circular economy policies on the employment of all workers, including vulnerable workers, with gender disaggregated data. Following the example of the Netherlands,⁸ a social impact assessment of EU circular economy policies could enable policymakers to identify the risks and opportunities of circular jobs undertaken by vulnerable workers in key circular sectors within and outside the EU.



Identify the characteristics of a socially just circular economy and integrate these considerations into the monitoring of the impact of a circular economy, including employment. Having a shared understanding of what a socially just circular economy entails will be pivotal to make this transition work for all. The monitoring framework for a circular economy needs to be improved to better evaluate and monitor how the circular economy is contributing towards creating more decent and inclusive jobs.



Secure adequate financing of the transition towards a socially just circular economy. Forwardlooking policies are needed to scale up financing towards the circular and just transition. These would, for example, include creating a social taxonomy, strengthening and making compulsory the qualifying social and environmental criteria for public procurement and EU funds, and financing education and training to address potential skills mismatches. These could help give a clear signal and certainty to investors and businesses to scale up their action.



Enhance synergies between business and government to ensure that circular policies contain strong social safeguards. Business and governments need to work closely together to embed social considerations in circular economy practices and implementation and jointly increase ambition. This could be through focused stakeholder fora and an increase in public—private partnerships. Governments must promote labour rights, education and training policies that enable workers to thrive in the circular economy, offer capacity-building for businesses, and create a conducive environment for scaling up circular economy startups and innovative technologies. Meanwhile, businesses should be encouraged to demonstrate how circularity and decent work can be effectively combined.

Strengthen the coherence between social and circular economy policies. Certain circular economy and social policies have strong synergies. However, more explicit and measurable linkages between circular economy and social policies, particularly on the social economy, are needed to fully leverage the positive synergies between these policies to ensure a socially just transition to a circular economy.

Ensure that the transition to a circular economy is globally fair and just. Circular economy policies have impacts beyond the EU's boundaries. The trade of secondary products and materials, discarded products and waste can affect workers in the countries where these flows are currently directed, particularly in the Global South. Integrating circular economy objectives in customs and trade policies could help prevent some of these ripple effects. Supporting these countries in implementing and scaling up their own circular economy legislations, such as Extended Producer Responsibility schemes, could also help avoid job displacement.



Agree a shared definition of circular jobs that takes into account core, enabling and indirect circular jobs across the formal, informal and social economies. A shared definition set in legislation that is inclusive of all types of relevant jobs can provide a clear picture of the net employment gains in a circular economy. Such a definition could also help identify the categories of workers that can benefit from additional support during the transition.

1. Introduction

The adoption of a circular economy is essential for reaching climate neutrality by 2050.^{9,10} The roll-out of critical renewable energy infrastructure, decarbonising transport and improving energy efficiency have been major EU priorities. These measures play a critical role in the climate transition, but they most directly address only 55% of emissions, and have less impact on the remaining 45% of emissions.¹¹

The circular economy tackles the remaining 45% of emissions deriving from material production – these emissions come from producing the cars, clothes, food and other products we use every day.¹²

A circular economy has been defined in many ways.¹³ Some of these definitions include the need to align this new "economic system that uses a systemic approach to maintain a circular flow of resources, by regenerating, retaining or adding to their value"¹⁴ to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Such an approach would help to draw more attention to the social implications.¹⁵

Relentless demand for raw material extraction has reached 92 billion tonnes in 2017, a rate that has tripled since the 1970s.¹⁶ This is predicted to increase even further, while total emissions are expected to reach approx. 50 Gt CO₂ equivalents as the global raising population requires access to housing, food and other basic services.¹⁷ Global emissions from excessive resource production need to be addressed if we are to reach the climate goals set by the Paris Agreement and stay within the safe limits of our planet's boundaries.

Within the EU, scaling up circular economy approaches is a political priority under the European Green Deal¹⁸ and essential for achieving its climate goals. This is due to the opportunity it offers to reduce raw material extraction, consumption, waste and emissions, contribute to restoring nature and strengthen the competitiveness of the economy.¹⁹ The European Green Deal sets a common ambition for Member States to reach climate neutrality by 2050 in a way where no one is left behind. The transition to a climate neutral Europe is also anticipated to create a more resilient and thriving labour market in the face of globalisation, technological and demographic change and resource scarcity.²⁰The circular economy is playing a key role in how the EU is addressing the systemic shift towards climate neutrality and a sustainable and equitable future for all.

In the last decade, the EU has introduced numerous pieces of legislation through its Circular Economy Action Plans.²¹ The Ecodesign for Sustainable Products Regulation sets requirements for specific products to improve their circularity and energy performance. The Right to Repair Directive introduces common rules to increase access to product repairs for consumers. The revision of the Packaging and Packaging Waste Regulation addresses the increased production and usage of single-use packaging.

Meanwhile, many Member States have welcomed greater focus on the circular economy, with 20 EU countries adopting national circular economy strategies, roadmaps and action plans between 2016 and 2022.²² One of the examples is Spain, which has adopted a national Strategy setting a number of goals to be achieved by 2030 such as reduction in the use of materials and in the amount of generated waste. The first triennial action plan under the Strategy sets creation of new jobs and improvement of the quality of employment in the circular economy as one of the "lines of action", with the aim of ensuring a balanced and fair transition.²³

The circular economy has also attracted attention from private sector businesses, trade unions and social economy entities.²⁴ Rising energy costs resulting from Russia's war on Ukraine alongside supply shortages

of raw materials have attracted growing interest in the circular economy. This is partly due to the environmental, energy-saving and security of supply benefits resulting from retaining existing products and materials in use for as long as possible.^{25,26,27} The circular economy is also expected to deliver social benefits, primarily through net gains of up to 700,000 jobs across Member States by 2030.²⁸

While circular jobs are being created, little is known about the quality of these jobs. The circular economy may help create high-quality jobs, as we move towards circular activities that extend the life of products.²⁹ Progressive policies can help to ensure that the new jobs in a circular economy are predominantly decent. For example, collaboration and social dialogue can improve labour conditions, upskill workers and facilitate inclusive practices in the labour market.^{30,31} However, without focus on the *quality* of the new jobs, adverse labour practices that currently exist in the fringes of the linear economy may become the new norm in some of the sectors that grow as a result of the transition to a more circular economy. These practices include marginalisation, unsafe and precarious working conditions, poor pay, gender inequality and limited access to formal employment. They are currently more common in sectors where a large share of the employees are unskilled and low-skilled workers, migrants, or women – with migrant women working in low-skilled jobs being at a particularly high risk of adverse employment practices.³²

Progressive policies that focus on the quality as well as the quantity of new jobs can deliver multiple social benefits. Decent and inclusive circular jobs, alongside inclusive formalisation of certain jobs in the fringes of the linear economy, can provide new opportunities for economic inclusion among marginalised workers. As such, a socially just transition to a circular economy could help reduce inequalities, strengthen social cohesion and improve labour market participation, with a positive impact on the EU's overall economy.

To maximise the social benefits from the circular economy, policymakers would need to direct their focus on the social implications of the transition to a circular economy, such as labour practices and decent work, human rights, social equity and the final cost to consumers.³³ With some exceptions,^{34,35} to date, their focus has been more on issues related to economic growth, environmental concerns and supply chain risks.³⁶ Better understanding of the socio-economic impacts, such as those on the labour market, is paramount to maximise the benefits of the transition to a circular economy, and to avoid unintended consequences including exacerbated marginalisation, exclusion, poverty and gender inequality.

Greater insight is needed on the quality and inclusivity of the new jobs created in a circular economy and the spillover effects of job displacement. It is also important to examine the direct and indirect impacts on different categories of workers, such as low-, medium- or highly-skilled, particularly in sectors that are expected to benefit the most from the transition including repair, recycling and waste management sectors.

As our understanding of a circular economy evolves, there is a time-limited opportunity to make new circular jobs decent and inclusive for all. EU policymakers need to maximise the opportunities inherent in the process of circular job creation, and to recognise and address the risk of these adverse societal impacts to ensure that the transition to a circular economy is socially just. A key aspect discussed in this policy briefing is the need for policymakers to consider the potential negative impacts of increased circularity on the most vulnerable social groups (eg migrant, women, people with disabilities, informal workers), while also ensuring that the costs and benefits of the transition are equitably distributed across society.³⁷

Purpose and structure

Following the **introduction**, **Section 2** of this policy briefing first sets out the context of the types of jobs needed to support the circular economy transition. **Section 3** examines the current gaps in research within the EU in addressing the creation of new jobs, employment conditions and inclusion of workers in repair, recycling and waste management sectors in the transition to a circular economy. **Section 4** illustrates the links between circularity and social policies in the EU through reviewing some of the key related policy files. **Section 5** presents how businesses in these industries can help create inclusive and decent jobs. **Section 6** provides policy recommendations for a socially just circular economy, with a focus on jobs and employment.

2. Jobs needed to support the transition to a circular economy

The European Commission estimates that the shift to a circular economy could result in the net gain of up to 700,000 jobs by 2030 across Member States, especially in waste management and repair services.³⁸ This figure also takes into consideration the loss of jobs in sectors such as extractive industries, manufacturing of primary raw materials and the automotive industry.³⁹ However, even in the sectors that are expected to gain jobs in the short term, some workers may be adversely affected in the longer term as we reach a more advanced adoption of the circular economy. For example, the demand for waste management services may decline as products are designed to be more reparable and to last longer.

Some of the studies seeking to quantify the employment opportunities created by the transition to a circular economy acknowledge the potentially contradictory impact of other drivers of labour market change, such as the adoption of automation and digitalisation, but their impact is not explored in much detail.^{40,41} Another trend that may affect employment creation is the significant reduction in consumption as consumers shift their purchasing behaviour (eg from prestige/hedonistic consumption to needs-based consumption).

A key limitation of the attempts to quantify the employment impacts of the circular economy transition is the lack of a shared definition of 'circular jobs', an aspect also reflected in EU policies. As a result, circular jobs are often considered to represent only activities that have obvious outcomes for the circular economy (such as recycling, repair or reuse activities) or are labelled as "green jobs", ⁱ while ignoring enabling jobs that directly support a circular economy but also serve non-circular activities (eg lawyers, architects, data analysts).⁴² To overcome this challenge, the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and Circle Economy developed a definition and categorised the types of jobs required for the transition to a circular economy as follows: *core circular jobs* ensure the closure of raw material loops, *enabling circular jobs* accelerate and upscale circular activities and *indirect circular jobs* provide support services (Table 1).⁴³ Based on this work, they developed a methodology to monitor the circular employment level of municipalities across different geographies.⁴⁴

In their analysis, UNEP and Circle Economy recognise that informal workers tend to be excluded from most quantitative assessments of 'circular jobs'.⁴⁵ The lack of reliable and accessible data on the informal sector makes it difficult, if not impossible, to create a full picture of the circular economy transition

ⁱ Meaning that these jobs have a direct aim to conserve, restore and protect the environment.

impacts for this group. In the EU, informal employment constitutes only 16.8 per cent of total employment,⁴⁶ representing a small proportion when compared to the global average of 61.2 per cent.⁴⁷ Yet, these workers are important because some are directly involved in *core circular jobs*, such as recycling of waste or reuse activities (eg active in second-hand markets, flea markets, antique stores).⁴⁸ Informal workers often come from marginalised or vulnerable groups and are more likely than average to experience poor working conditions, lack of social protection or decent pay.

	Core circular jobs	Enabling circular jobs	Indirect circular jobs
Circular economy principles	Prioritise regenerative resources Use waste as a resource Extend the lifetime Rethink the business model**	Incorporate digital technology Design for the future Strengthen and advance knowledge Collaborate to create joint value Rethink the business model*	n/a
Type of activities/sectors	Repair, renewable energy, waste and resource management, leasing or rental services**	Design, digital technology, professional associations, education,** information services,** leasing or renting services*	Logistics, public sector services, education,* information services*
Examples of professions	Repair technicians Process operators Solar panel installers Recycling operatives Hazardous materials removal workers Cleaners of vehicles and equipment	Circular equipment engineers Demand planners Building information managers Data analysts Architects Conservation scientists	n/a
Predominant level of skills required (Burger et al., 2019)	Manual skills Technological skills	More complex cognitive skills (eg technical, resource management or social skills)	n/a

Table 1: Definition of jobs in a circular economy

Note: Some circular economy principles and types of activities/sectors with asterisks appear in more than one column due to a distinct categorisation by the authors of the two studies listed below.

Source: Circle Economy & UNEP (2021)*49 and Burger et al. (2019)**50

Although it is not possible to accurately estimate the number of circular jobs in the informal economy due to the absence of granular statistics, the informal economy overall was estimated to represent an average of 17.3 per cent of gross domestic product (GDP) in Europeⁱⁱ in 2021, with higher levels of informality in eastern, central and southern European countries.⁵¹ The key barriers for entering the formal economy

ⁱⁱ Average figure includes Norway, Switzerland, Turkey, countries outside the EU.

include tax burden, high levels of self-employment, distrust in public institutions and high levels of unemployment.⁵²

An alternative way to classify circular jobs has been proposed by Burger et al. (2019), with a specific focus on the level of skills that are required for jobs in each category. According to this study, *core circular jobs* tend to require more manual and technological skills, while *enabling circular jobs* require more complex skills, including technical, resource management or social skills. These views are echoed in other studies that recognise that *core circular jobs*, such as manual collection, sorting and processing of waste or product repairs, tend to be more labour intensive than jobs involving primary processes in the current economy, while the level of skills required for such activities is fairly low.^{53,54} For example, an empirical study from the Flemish region of Belgium shows that between 65 and 70 per cent of workers involved in *core circular jobs* are low- or medium-skilled, while only approx. 50 per cent of workers in the overall economy are in this category.^{55,56}

However, an important question within this context – and often overlooked by research and policy – is whether locally born workers are willing to engage in lower skilled, manual activities.⁵⁷ For example, the waste management sector in Germany struggles to attract German young people, thus relying heavily on migrant workers coming predominantly from Eastern Europe. As a result, migrant workers are disproportionately affected by the low pay and poor working conditions in this sector, enabled by the limited bargaining power and access to representation from trade unions.⁵⁸ Yet, by improving working conditions and creating labour insertion programmes, it can support employment opportunities for those who would otherwise struggle to find it. Since 2020, the Brussels region of Belgium has developed a skills certification for collection, sorting and dismantling of products and materials to increase people's opportunities for access to circular jobs.⁵⁹

While the employment implications of the transition to a circular economy have started to gain some traction in the last few years, there is a pressing need for further research on critical and insufficiently studied aspects. Some of these include the involvement of social economy actors,⁶⁰ working conditions,^{61,62} informal employment and inclusion of marginalised workers.⁶³ The next section will explore in further depth the current state of knowledge of these aspects.

3. Decent and fair jobs in the circular economy

To avoid adverse social impacts, policymakers need to pay more attention to employment quality, working conditions and fair inclusion of existing workers in all circular activities, especially in areas such as recycling, reuse, waste management and repair. Based on currently available literature, a lack of carefully designed policies to ensure an equitable and inclusive transition to a circular economy risks disadvantaging some workers. This risk is greater among those who currently work in the informal economy, vulnerable and marginalised populations (such as the Roma, migrants, and women, who are generally affected by intersecting forms of discrimination), and people with disabilities.

This section provides a literature review on decent and inclusive jobs in the circular economy, focusing on the role of the social economy, how to ensure decent work for 'circular' workers, the importance of ensuring that informal workers benefit from the transition, as well as perspectives on how to support decent and inclusive jobs outside of the EU.

Enabling positive contribution by social economy actors in circular markets

Purpose-driven social economy organisations (eg associations, co-operatives, social enterprises) can play an instrumental role in delivering a socially just transition to a circular economy. These organisations are often recognised for providing decent work conditions and for fostering social inclusion of the most vulnerable groups through up-skilling and re-skilling. Moreover, these organisations are generally well connected and recognised by their local communities, making them well placed to facilitate behavioural change.⁶⁴

The European Commission estimates that 10 per cent of all EU businesses are social economy entities, which employ 13.6 million workers, the equivalent of approx. 6.2 per cent of the EU's employees.⁶⁵ The concentration of the labour force in the social economy is higher in countries such as Spain, France, or Italy, accounting for up to 10 per cent of national employment, and lower in Eastern Europe, representing less than 2 per cent of employment.⁶⁶

A study from the European Commission and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) emphasises that the social economy organisations in the EU, such as associations, co-operatives, foundations, mutual organisations and social enterprises are involved in a variety of circular activities across sectors. These activities include reuse (eg second-hand economy), repair and recycling, which enable the integration of vulnerable groups, including workers in the informal economy.⁶⁷ For example, a French social enterprise ENVIE employs vulnerable people on a short-term basis to train them in the recycling and repair of waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE) for re-sale, supporting their reintegration into the labour market.⁶⁸

Although several studies explore the benefits of integrating the circular and social economies, only one study takes a more critical view regarding the potential negative implication of existing circular economy policies on social economy organisations and, implicitly, on workers in the social economy.⁶⁹ The study identifies a number of risks that may impact social economy organisations, including:

- exclusion from repair activities of electrical and electronic goods (if licensing, warranties and access to spare parts are retained by large businesses)
- marginalisation as a result of the harmonisation and standardisation of waste treatment, and professionalisation of the sector
- limited access to textile goods for second-hand retailers as a result of Product as a Service models or return schemes of large businesses
- concentration of building disassembly and demolition waste recycling activities in the hands of large private companies due to price competition.

These risks also likely apply to small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in general. Empirical studies should further investigate the above-mentioned risks to better understand the implications, while policymakers could better align the Action Plan for the Social Economy and the Circular Economy Action Plan to prevent such ripple effects. The European Commission's recent proposal for a Council Recommendation on developing social economy framework conditions encourages Member States to create coherent measures for circularity and social policies, and regulatory frameworks that ensure the access of social economy entities to secondary materials.⁷⁰

However, such recommendations should become binding to ensure that measures are adopted consistently across the EU. Similar recommendations should be developed under the Circular Economy Action Plan to recognise and address the impact of circular economy policies such as Extended Producer Responsibility schemes or the Right to Repair.

Ensuring decent work for all 'circular workers'

Several studies offer insights into the quality of jobs and working conditions. This is especially the case for low-skilled formal workers, in key sectors such as textiles, waste management, packaging, manufacturing and recycling, where circular net employment gains are expected.⁷¹

In the waste management sector, private companies often pay wages that are 20 per cent lower than those in the public sector,⁷² while providing poorer working conditions and poor or no pensions, alongside longer working hours and limited training opportunities.⁷³

Meanwhile, low-skilled line-workers in textile remanufacturing or textile waste sorters in the Netherlands are predominantly women, often immigrants, who are employed part time, with minimum wage salaries, often earning less than their male counterparts.⁷⁴

Improving working conditions and ensuring living wages will help tackle increasing social inequalities that affect workers' health, living standards and access to essential needs that put a strain on public expenditure and the subsequent risks of low social cohesion.⁷⁵ This also provides benefits for businesses, including a more stable workforce, better productivity and resilient value chains.⁷⁶

In the waste management sector, public procurement can be an important driver of socially just transitions towards circularity. While EU rules allow for the inclusion of social and green criteria in public procurement procedures of services such as municipal waste treatment and disposal, these are underutilised, especially the social criterion.

Many public bodies carrying out public procurement are often unaware of the rules, afraid that adopting social criteria will breach the EU's competition law or operating within limited budgets, therefore prioritising cost over other criteria. As a result, awarding public contracts based on the lowest price criterion may often drive down quality of employment as public authorities are not legally required to consider bidders' compliance with fundamental labour rights.⁷⁷

Ensuring informal workers benefit from the transition

Given the high levels of EU waste exports, the recycling and waste activities undertaken by informal workers in the Global South and the precarious working conditions they experience have often been given great attention.^{78,79,80} However, such workers are also present in many European countries but go predominantly unnoticed by research and policies on the circular economy. According to some estimates from 2016, up to one million informal workers may be involved in recycling and reuse activities of municipal and electrical and electronic waste across the European continent, predominantly in Bulgaria, Greece, Italy, Romania, North Macedonia and Serbia.⁸¹ In Serbia, the recycling system relies significantly on the informal sector to keep waste out of landfills, with 62.3–80 per cent of recycling being carried out by some 47,000 informal workers.^{82,83}

EU-level circular economy policy tools, such as Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) schemes, have led to a significant shift of workers from informal to formal waste recovery activities across Europe. Formal

activities provide a more valuable source of income for these workers as well as social protection for them and their families. Many of them are generally unskilled, with only elementary education completed, and come from vulnerable and sometimes marginalised groups (including Roma people, irregular migrants, refugees or young people), and often find it difficult to access formal employment.^{84,85} However, depending on the waste streams covered by the EPR scheme, informal workers may still be excluded from the design processes and might come into conflict with Producer Responsibility Organisations, waste companies, or local and national authorities.^{86,87}

Despite a limited assessment of how circular economy policy interventions directly impact informal workers in the EU, a study on working conditions in the waste management sector notes that these workers tend to be more exposed to health and safety hazards (eg from sharp objects, toxic and contaminated waste) due to a lack of protective equipment.⁸⁸ Women, especially those who work in waste collection, may also be exposed to sexual harassment.⁸⁹ The lack of representation – with only a small number of informal workers actively organising in associations, co-operatives or trade unions – exacerbates these problems, adversely impacting their workplace safety and quality of life.⁹⁰ The rise of automation and digitalisation may also impact the demand for informal workers in the waste sector as technological solutions spread across EU countries in the coming decades, restricting their access to a source of income.⁹¹

Circular economy policies should recognise informal workers as valuable actors, while implementing measures (including through supporting actors such as social economy organisations) to create labour market inclusion opportunities for informal workers, helping them transition to the formal waste sector and preventing social unrest. Moreover, a recent study emphasises that EU funding, with a large proportion provided via the Cohesion Fund and the European Regional Development Fund, was used for the development of waste management infrastructure between 2014 and 2020.⁹² These types of financial instruments could be used to promote social inclusion, not just environmental protection, by financing projects that establish collection centres or that explore technologies to connect informal workers with waste companies and collection centres. For example, the Association of Waste Pickers (AMELIOR) that represent informal and formal workers has developed accessible weekend collection centres for waste pickers in collaboration with the local authority in Paris, France (Est Ensemble).⁹³ Facilitating the informal workers' access to the formal labour market could help monitor their contribution to the circular economy and, in turn, ensure better workplace safety and fair compensation.

Supporting decent and inclusive jobs outside the EU

Although this policy briefing mainly concentrates on the impacts of the transition to a circular economy on workers within the EU, consideration needs to be given externally. Low- and middle-income countries do not always benefit from stringent environmental regulations, while the costs are more easily externalised on the environment and their citizens. For example, significant amounts of waste, sometimes of lower quality,⁹⁴ flow from Europe into these countries.⁹⁵ Often this is managed by informal workers and may involve improper management due to adequate enforcement of regulations or infrastructure. These workers might suffer adverse health consequences, not have access to social protection or decent work, respect for the right to form/join trade unions or be included in decision-making mechanisms; they also often live in poverty.^{96,97,98,99} However, in places where recycling infrastructure is being developed, countries such as Brazil, Chile and South Africa have taken steps to recognise informal waste pickers in EPR

regulations, leading to the formalisation of these workers and ensuring better working conditions and fair pay.¹⁰⁰

When developing waste management policies, due attention must be given to the needs of the partners from the Global South. For example, increased circularity may lead to significant net potential employment losses from primary production in Asia and the Pacific, Africa and the Middle East, even if the work may be precarious.¹⁰¹ The principle of proximity, embedded within policies such as the Waste Framework Directive,¹⁰² is another example that can lead to unintended negative social consequences. Specifically, some valuable waste management jobs in third countries may be lost due to the relocation of operations and the attempt to create closed-loop value chains within the EU, albeit this can also lead to decrease in high-risk jobs and environmentally harmful waste management practices outside the EU.¹⁰³ If such implications are not considered closely, we risk designing a circular economy that creates winners and losers, with the latter representing those most vulnerable in our society.¹⁰⁴

The Netherlands has already taken steps in this direction by conducting an impact assessment to understand the potential social and environmental effects of circular economy policies on low- and middle-income countries,¹⁰⁵ with a focus on textile and electric and electronic equipment (EEE) products. Among the main findings, the increase of repair and product life extension of EEE in the Netherlands will likely reduce the export of EEE second-hand products, negatively affecting jobs in the repair sector, and the access to quality secondary products for consumers in countries such as Nigeria and Ghana.¹⁰⁶ On the other hand, the export of post-consumer textiles sent for recycling to countries such as Pakistan is expected to perpetuate poor working conditions, low wages or gender discrimination if circular economy policies do not pay due regard to existing labour practices.¹⁰⁷ The flow of second-hand clothes is already affecting the competitiveness of local businesses, while consumers often have access to poor quality clothes.¹⁰⁸ The solution is not necessarily to halt second-hand product exports to the Global South, but to integrate obligations in customs and trade policies, and design EPR schemes that extend the scope for producers outside the EU boundaries and account for the needs of those affected throughout the value chains.¹⁰⁹

4. The links between EU policies on circularity and social issues

The circular economy is a key lever towards achieving climate neutrality. The importance of circularity policies has been reflected in EU policies over the past years, particularly in the Circular Economy Action Plan. While a circular economy has significant social impacts, including on employment, this area has been covered only tangentially. Similarly, social policies have key implications, particularly on skills, for a circular economy. The social economy can help address the challenges of the circular economy, for instance through increasing social cohesion and inclusion, improving the social acceptance of circular products, and promoting more sustainable and circular behaviours.¹¹⁰

This section aims to illustrate the links between circularity and social policies through reviewing some of the key related policy files. To unfold the connection between these policies, this section first reviews key EU circular economy policies, including how social considerations are included therein. Second, it turns to social policies, including on social economy and employment, and focuses on how circular economy-related considerations are included. Social issues in this review primarily cover employment, skills and links to the social economy. Therefore, it is not a systemic review of all relevant EU policies.

4.1. EU headline ambitions

In 2019, the European Commission laid down six headline ambitions for the period of 2019–24 with the aim to create "A Union that strives for more".¹¹¹ Two of these ambitions are the **'European Green Deal'** (EGD) and **'An economy that works for people'**.¹¹²

The *EGD* aims to drive the EU's transformation towards a competitive, modern and resource-efficient economy. With its core objective of achieving climate neutrality by 2050, the EGD identified key action areas to deliver on this target. A circular economy is key to delivering the EGD as the objective "Mobilising industry for a clean and circular economy" underlines. The communication highlights that the circular economy has great job-creating potential; however, it does not detail the sectors nor the type and quality of jobs. On the social considerations, the communication highlights the importance of reflecting the need for a socially just transition both in national and EU policies.¹¹³ While there is great potential for the social economy to help drive the EU's transition towards a climate-neutral and circular future, the EGD communication does not reference the social economy.

The ambition *An economy that works for people* aims to create a thriving EU economy that works for businesses and individuals. It sets out the importance of supporting small businesses, which are core to the social economy, and also puts forward the plan to implement the European Pillar of Social Rights. This ambition refers to the social market economy as the foundation of the transition towards climate neutrality and a driver towards reducing inequalities and poverty.¹¹⁴

4.2. Social aspects of EU circular economy policies

The Circular Economy Action Plan (2020) is one of the key building blocks of the European Green Deal and aims to drive the EU's transition towards a more circular economy. The plan focuses on:

- making sustainable products the norm in the EU
- empowering consumers and public buyers
- ensuring less waste in resource-intensive sectors where the potential for circularity is high
- making circularity work for people, regions and cities
- leading global efforts on the circular economy.¹¹⁵

The Circular Economy Action Plan (CEAP) underlines the importance of "making circular economy work for people, regions and cities" and the links with the social economy and related mutual benefits of contributing to the green transition and enhancing social inclusion. On specific links to social policies, the Plan lists the Action Plan to implement the European Pillar of Social Rights, the Skills Agenda, the Pact for Skills, the Action Plan for Social Economy as well as the European Social Fund Plus.

On the employment benefits, the Plan mentions how new sustainable economic models can lead to new employment opportunities globally and support the creation of approximately 700,000 new jobs in Europe by 2030.¹¹⁶ However, the document does not engage in any assessment of the broader social or distributional impacts of the transition to a circular economy, or how it can be ensured that the new jobs are decent and inclusive and any job losses related to the circular economy are addressed.

To track the EU's progress on a just and circular transition, strong metrics and an adequate monitoring framework are needed. The EU published **a revised version of the circular economy monitoring framework** in 2023. The new iteration of the framework has been improved by also measuring 'global sustainability and resilience'. However, in terms of employment, it only includes the percentage of total employment in the sectors of recycling, repair, reuse, rental and leasing¹¹⁷ without sharing details on the quality of the jobs and looking in depth at areas such as upskilling and reskilling trends.

The proposal of the **Ecodesign for Sustainable Products Regulation** (ESPR), published in March 2022, is one of the key files under the CEAP, seeking to reduce waste and ensure that products that are either made or sold in Europe are fit for a climate-neutral, resource-efficient and circular economy.

The ESPR has significant implications for employment and job creation in recycling, waste management and product repair. However, the European Commission's proposal does not detail its impact on inclusive and decent jobs beyond mentioning that the application of the ecodesign approach will support "job creation and social inclusion."¹¹⁸ Based on the impact assessment informing the proposal, the legislation proposes that eight years following the application of the ESPR, the inclusion of 'social requirements' will be considered. The European Parliament's adopted position suggests considering the inclusion of social sustainability after four years, which would accelerate the process.¹¹⁹ Timely implementation and the inclusion of social sustainability is pivotal to build an overarching and responsible framework for product design and processes.¹²⁰ As one of the key and most comprehensive files under the CEAP, the ESPR has the potential to pave the way to enhanced social considerations, particularly on jobs and working conditions, in a circular economy.

Proposed in March 2022 as part of the CEAP and the New Consumer Agenda, the **Right to Repair Directive** aims to reduce waste and ensure that products that are either made or sold in Europe are fit for a climateneutral, resource-efficient and circular economy. The European Commission proposes a new 'right to repair' both within and beyond the legal guarantee.¹²¹

Similarly to the ESPR file, the proposal mentions that a circular economy can contribute towards increased employment in the repair services sector¹²² but without detailing how to ensure that the jobs created are decent and inclusive. Next to the potential positive spillover effects of job creation in the repair sector and its contribution to growing the social economy, it can have prospective negative spillover effects as well as potential job losses in given sectors, particularly along the Electrical and Electronic Equipment value chains, as the demand for new devices is expected to decline.^{123,124}

The **Packaging and Packaging Waste Regulation** aims to prevent the production of packaging waste, promote the reuse of packaging and recycling and other forms of recovering packaging waste, as well as setting the requirements for packaging that the EU market must meet.

In the legislative proposal by the European Commission, there is no mention of just transition and, broadly, of working conditions. The explanatory memorandum underlines that embracing a circular economy in the packaging sector can have a net positive employment impact, and particularly references its importance in the social economy, "by creating more 'green' quality jobs provided the necessary investment in skills is put in place and considers the specificities in the Member States, regions, and types of work."¹²⁵ The expected impact of the proposal includes an estimated net increase of approximately 29,000 "'green' jobs".¹²⁶

The construction sector in Europe signifies around 18 million direct jobs and contributes to approximately 9 per cent of the EU GDP.¹²⁷ The new **Regulation on Construction Products** aims to harmonise the rules for construction products in the EU. The regulation is being revised to also enable the construction ecosystem to contribute to the EU sustainability and climate targets, and to enhance the sustainability performance of construction products.¹²⁸

The legislative proposal by the European Commission does not discuss the employment implications of the proposal and references only the Clean Energy for all Europeans Communication from 2016, which mentions the importance of improving the functioning of the fragmented single market for construction products to unleash the jobs and growth potential.¹²⁹

4.3. Circular economy aspects of EU social policies

The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan, published in 2021, outlines 20 principles across equal opportunities and access to the labour market, fair working conditions, and social protection and inclusion. The aim of the Action Plan is to guide the EU towards "a strong Social Europe and set the vision for our new 'social rulebook'".¹³⁰ It sets targets for 2030 on EU-wide employment, training participation and the number of people at risk of poverty or social exclusion.

The Plan underlines the important role businesses and entrepreneurs play in supporting employment and workers. In this regard, the document refers to the CEAP and the New Industrial Strategy as innovative and competitive industrial systems that are essential for creating new jobs.¹³¹

The Action Plan for Social Economy "seeks to enhance social innovation, support the development of the social economy and boost its social and economic transformative power". The Action Plan references the circular economy on a number of occasions. It underlines that the social economy contributes towards the green transition, particularly through developing goods and services for industrial development and evolving sustainable business practices, for instance in the field of circular economy or agriculture.¹³²

The European Social Fund Plus (ESF+) aims to support European regions and Member States to boost employment and achieve "fair social protection and a skilled and resilient workforce ready for the future, as well as inclusive and fair societies that aim to eradicate poverty and deliver on the principles set out in the European Pillar of Social Rights". Furthermore, the ESF+ strives to "support, complement and add value to the policies of Member States to ensure equal opportunities, equal access to the labour market, fair and quality working conditions, social protection and inclusion".¹³³

Under the specific objectives of the ESF+, the regulation mentions that the ESF+ should be contributing to further policy objectives including in relation to "a greener, low carbon Europe through [...] the creation of new jobs in sectors related to the environment, climate, energy, the circular economy and the bioeconomy".¹³⁴

The EU's Skills Agenda is a five-year plan that aims to support businesses and individuals to "develop better skills and put them to use".¹³⁵ Two of the key levers of the agenda are enhancing sustainable competitiveness and ensuring social fairness, building on the European Pillar of Social Rights. The communication makes several references to the circular economy; for instance, in reference to circularity in the construction sector and how upskilling is needed. The document also emphasises the importance of the social economy in creating jobs, particularly in the circular economy.¹³⁶

The Pact for Skills, which is one of the key elements of the Skills Agenda, has been set up to connect private and public sector organisations and support them in upskilling and reskilling adults.¹³⁷ The Pact has numerous large-scale partnerships¹³⁸ focused in the construction sector, skills across digitalisation, energy efficiency and the circular economy, among others.¹³⁹

Finally, 2023 is the official **European Year of Skills** in the EU, which seeks to demonstrate the importance of ensuring EU citizens have the skills needed for quality jobs, and aims to support companies in tackling skill shortages.¹⁴⁰

4.4. Evaluation of links between circular economy and social policies

In the circular economy files reviewed, social aspects particularly around employment and job creation are generally mentioned. However, there are no clear provisions in the policies on how the distributional impacts and employment impacts will be measured and how a socially just implementation of these policies will be ensured.

Similar to the circularity files, the social files reviewed reference their impact on circular economy and potential job and new business model creation in the sector. Although, the issue on how best to ensure strong coherence between these policies is yet to be better addressed.

Future policies can build a solid framework, however further work is needed to drive impactful action towards a socially just and circular transition. This includes for instance:

- enhanced policy coherence between circular economy and social policies
- a strengthened impact assessment of the distributional and employment impacts of circularity policies
- a more comprehensive monitoring framework for the social impacts of the EU's circular economy.

Table 2: Policies and policy documents reviewed

Circular economy	Social aspects with a focus on skills, employment and the social economy
Circular economy Action Plan	The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan
Circular economy monitoring framework	The Action Plan for Social Economy
Ecodesign for Sustainable Products Regulation	European Social Fund Plus (ESF+)
Right to Repair Directive	The EU's Skills Agenda
Packaging and Packaging Waste Regulation	The Pact for Skills
Regulation on Construction Products	European Year of Skills

4.5. Financing a socially just circular economy

Stronger coherence between finance and investment and circular economy will be pivotal to scale up the transition.¹⁴¹ To achieve this, we need increased understanding of the importance of circular practices within the finance community.

The EU has been mobilising significant funds towards a circular economy. For instance, the Joint Initiative on Circular Economy is a partnership between the European Investment Bank and the EU's largest national promotional banks to invest at least EUR 10 billion in the circular economy by 2023.¹⁴² However,

as the transition to a circular economy requires significant restructuring,¹⁴³ including implications for employment, how **investments** in circular economy can contribute towards a socially just transition must be considered. The EU needs to ensure that investment in the circular economy results in quality jobs. There is a strong moral and financial case for investing in quality jobs as it "maximises corporate profitability, reduces litigation risk and ensures long term economic stability thereby contributing to positive financial returns for investors."¹⁴⁴

The EU's taxonomy aims to direct investment towards the green transition via providing a "classification system for sustainable activities".¹⁴⁵ In the related Delegated Act, it has defined specific criteria for investing in the circular economy. However, the Delegated Act does not reference the employment implications of investment in the circular economy. The Act only mentions that the impact assessment of the Packaging and Packaging Waste Regulation concerning how the Commission "[...] introduced new targets based on environmental, social and economic impacts".¹⁴⁶ Further to the taxonomy, companies subject to disclosure requirements under the revised EU Non-Financial Reporting Directive, including large banks and insurers, will need to make disclosures with reference to the taxonomy. Once the objectives pass into law, more financial instruments can be issued that comply with the EU taxonomy, enlarging the pool of money available for the transition to a circular economy. However, in its current format the taxonomy does not provide clear guidance on socially just investments in the circular economy.

Creating a **social taxonomy** that addresses how to channel private investment towards just and fair economic activities has been debated in the EU over the past years. However, there are no upcoming policy proposals. The Platform on Sustainable Finance published a report in 2022 that proposes a structure for the social taxonomy. One of the three key objectives proposed by the platform is decent work, with the four pillars of "employment creation, social protection, rights at work and social dialogue"¹⁴⁷ as defined by the International Labour Organization's (ILO's) Decent Work Agenda.

The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan also mentions the possible extension of the EU Taxonomy, underlining how it would enable investors and businesses to identify investments which are socially sustainable and "increase transparency on the social finance markets."¹⁴⁸ A social taxonomy that strongly builds on, and links with, the EU taxonomy for sustainable activities could help unleash investment towards a social circular economy by creating certainty and helping de-risk investments labelled as socially sustainable. There is a strong need signalled by European financial institutions to create a social investment framework in the EU.¹⁴⁹

Ensuring a strong understanding across different policymaking institutions of the benefits that **fiscal instruments** can play in increasing circular practices is key.¹⁵⁰ Improved fiscal measures to accelerate the transition to a circular economy can include for instance taxes, tax relief, and charges.¹⁵¹

Furthermore, **innovative financial instruments** such as tax levies, consumption charges and debt mechanisms can also help scale up circular practices. An example of an innovative financial instrument is the European Circular Bioeconomy Fund, which is the first venture fund to specifically focus on circular and bio-based industries in Europe.¹⁵²

Public procurement could also be used to drive better employment and work conditions in the EU. According to the European Commission, the total volume of public procurement in the EU amounts to approximately EUR 2 trillion per year, or 14% of the EU's GDP.¹⁵³ However, currently social criteria can be disregarded in tendering.¹⁵⁴ There is no uniform and consistent way to collect data on Socially Responsible Public Procurement (SRPP) in the EU,¹⁵⁵ but a recent European Parliament study, quoting the Single Market Scoreboard, estimates that "at least two thirds of contracts do not have any social aspects"; in some countries, as many as 95% of all contracts are awarded solely on the basis of price or cost.¹⁵⁶ SRPP, building on how the Green Public Procurement concept was strengthened, has the ability to generate favourable social results, advocate ethical business conduct and maintain elevated labour standards.¹⁵⁷ This, in turn, contributes to enhanced working conditions, equitable wages and improved employee benefits.¹⁵⁸

Overall, there is increasing investment in the circular economy, as well as growing interest in scaling up investing in socially responsible projects. An EU social taxonomy can assist with promoting socially sustainable circularity investments.¹⁵⁹

5. The role of private sector businesses in creating decent and fair jobs

In 2020, the EU's business economy employed over 130 million people and consisted of 26.3 million active enterprises.¹⁶⁰ As businesses cover a large share of EU employment, they have significant responsibility towards improving current employment conditions, meeting labour demand needs, promoting trade union rights at company level, and supporting the creation of decent and inclusive jobs in the transition towards a circular economy.

Some businesses are already exploring such opportunities by reskilling and upskilling their workforce to support their competitive position, phasing out harmful processes to ensure a healthy and safe environment for workers, or opening up social dialogues with employees and their representatives to better understand the implications of transitioning to more circular business models.¹⁶¹ Nonetheless, challenges remain as not all businesses understand the relevance of assessing the employment implications across their supply chains, the assumption being that the legal standards within the country of operation are strong enough to protect workers.¹⁶² Moreover, those that understand the imperative often lack the necessary knowledge to assess the social impacts of the circular economy, and even if some of that knowledge exists in-house, the process involved might be too complex or not represent standard practice.¹⁶³

There has also been significant investment in startups with innovative and circular solutions. Additionally, small ventures are willing to rapidly adopt radical shifts in business models, making them well positioned to accelerate the transition to a circular economy. This surge of startups also creates high-income and skilled jobs. Furthermore, a recent study on innovation and circular economy startups underlines the important role the circular economy can play in community building and increasing local employment.¹⁶⁴

Below we provide examples of business perspectives and case studies, and how circular economy actions can be implemented in a way that support a just transition.

We need ambitious climate and circular economy policies to ensure the world is fit for future generations. When it comes to circularity, the focus is on keeping materials and other resources in the economy for as long as possible, and thus the focus tends to be on the technical and logistical aspects, and not on the social impact. 'Upskilling' of the work force is often highlighted as a positive social outcome of the green transition, but we also need to ensure that vulnerable groups are not left behind, such as migrant workers and people with disabilities. If we come together to focus on equity and inclusion, we are simultaneously also fostering more robust circular jobs and ultimately a more robust circular economy.'

Katarzyna Wilkołaska, Group Sustainability Partner/Social Impact, ROCKWOOL

MUD Jeans, based in the Netherlands, is a circular denim brand that explores an alternative process to phase out toxic waste from the production of jeans. In this process, MUD regularly undertakes audits to ensure that their partners and suppliers adhere to the same high standards. They have also developed procedures to ensure that workers have limited contact with harmful substances during the denim production processes (eg dry indigo, laser, ozone).¹⁶⁵

'Inclusive, decent jobs are vital for the future of our economy. We need to increase the growth of clean jobs by equipping workers with the skills for the challenges of tomorrow. We must start with shifting our education system to equip young people with the right skills. This will go hand-in-hand with other policy initiatives such as circular procurement to create the demand for circular products, which will in turn create more circular jobs.'

Harry Verhaar, Head of Global Public and Government Affairs, Signify

As part of its Roadmap to zero emission aluminium production, **Hydro** aims to not only decarbonise its operations but also influence a broader societal shift.¹⁶⁶ Apart from growing its recycling capability and capacity to increase use of end-of-life waste across its aluminium business, Hydro is constantly delivering on the ambition to recycle more locally sourced scrap to ensure market-leading sustainability performance. The expansion of Hydro's aluminium recycling plants in Germany, Spain and Poland is just one of several investments in best-in-class recycling technology to serve growing demand and the regulatory push for low carbon aluminium.^{167,168,169} These expansions are generating new direct jobs at Hydro, in addition to indirect jobs in the scrap-related and adjacent industries. Recycling jobs at Hydro generally fall into one of the following categories: production operators and supervisors, maintenance technicians, material handling, production planners, process engineers, and administrative positions such as accounting and purchasing staff.

The **JUST2CE** project's goal is to investigate the circumstances in which a responsible, inclusive and socially equitable shift to a circular economy can be both achievable and favourable.¹⁷⁰ One of the project's case studies is on e-waste management in Italy's Campania region, as it is a pressing issue with high e-waste production and low collection rates. The region also faces challenges from illegal e-waste trade and informal collection, causing environmental harm, disruption to recycling systems, job losses, and hindering economic growth. To tackle these problems, adopting a circular economy-based e-waste management system is crucial, emphasising recovery, reuse, remanufacture and recycling to reduce environmental impacts and conserve resources. The case study examines the performance of various stakeholders in the e-waste management system in the Campania region, including companies handling e-waste, research centres, environmental organisations, public administrations, schools and citizens. It assesses the overall system performance, identifies key factors influencing its improvement, and explores the adoption of just circular economy principles.¹⁷¹

'To be effective, the transition towards decarbonised economies must be circular, not linear. Beyond its evident contribution to our climate targets, circular economies are job rich and, in order to fully realise their potential on employment, we must acknowledge the need for fairer and more equitable conditions in the sector. Businesses have an important role to play in promoting and creating opportunities for work that is productive and delivers security and social protection as a key driver for sustainable development, while working with policymakers to assess the skilling, upskilling and reskilling need across core and enabling circular jobs.'

Ramon Arratia, Chief Sustainability Officer, Ball Corporation

Further to private businesses, **the public sector** plays a pivotal role in creating inclusive and decent jobs in the circular economy. For instance, in the waste sector, public sector employment is significant.¹⁷² Therefore, **close co-operation between the private and public sectors** is essential for creating decent and inclusive jobs. Business action can be used by governments as a signal of support for ambitious policies, which in turn provide enabling environments for companies to go further, faster. According to the ambition loop theory, bold government policies and private sector leadership reinforce each other for accelerated and more ambitious climate action.¹⁷³ This theory can be applied to the circular economy as well as in scaling up ambition. Businesses and governments need to show a strong commitment to put forward policies that unreservedly benefit the provision of public goods, both social and material.

Addressing climate change is critical and the circular economy is an essential lever, but as we pull it, we must do so in a way that works for everyone and does not create new social and economic problems. We know that circular economy initiatives have the potential to create new inclusive jobs, but we have to make sure they are good jobs in the right place and accessible to the people that need them. We need everyone to be able to share in the benefits across society, and to make sure we don't make life harder for those least able to cope. As the EU builds a circular economy we have to make sure it is a just, fair and inclusive one.

Eliot Whittington, Chief Systems Change Officer, Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership

Action towards a socially just circular economy from the business community is steadily gaining some momentum. More and more businesses are interested in understanding and contributing towards creating inclusive and decent jobs in the circular economy. However, social considerations are not yet core to developing and implementing circular economy practices. Clearer policies can enable and scale up business action and unlock the necessary finance towards a socially just circular economy.

EU policies on circular economy and employment must address questions of fairness to ensure no-one is left behind in the green transition. Businesses in every community should create inclusive and decent jobs while investing in sufficient training measures that can embed a fair-minded transition alongside worker safety. Policymakers need to guarantee that negative labour practices are not inherited from our present throw-away production system, and that the costs and benefits of the move to a green economy are distributed fairly across society.

María Mendiluce, CEO, We Mean Business Coalition

6. Conclusion and policy recommendations

The transition to a circular economy will be critical for reducing waste and emissions and increasing security of supply, while retaining the value of products and materials in use for as long as possible. However, we can make this transition go hand-in-hand with creating decent and inclusive jobs for all, supporting the ambition of the European Green Deal to achieve climate neutrality by mid-century and leave no person and place behind. A socially just circular economy has multiple benefits, including those that could help reduce inequalities, strengthen social cohesion and improve labour market participation, with a positive impact on the EU's overall economy. Not addressing the social impacts of a circular economy could have significant unintended negative consequences, particularly for vulnerable and marginalised groups within Europe and beyond.

While additional research is needed to further clarify some of the implications discussed in this policy briefing, **it is clear that circular economy policies require careful assessment and design as well as strong political and business commitment to ensure an equitable and inclusive transition**, especially for those most vulnerable. As such, we provide some recommendations for policymakers as a starting point:



Assess the distributional impacts of an increased share of circular economy policies on the employment of all workers, including vulnerable workers, with gender disaggregated data. Following the example of the Netherlands,¹⁷⁴ a social impact assessment of EU circular economy policies could enable policymakers to identify the risks and opportunities of circular jobs undertaken by vulnerable workers in key circular sectors within and outside the EU.



Identify the characteristics of a socially just circular economy and integrate these considerations into the monitoring of the impact of a circular economy, including employment. Having a shared understanding of what a socially just circular economy entails will be pivotal to make this transition work for all. The monitoring framework for a circular economy needs to be improved to better evaluate and monitor how the circular economy is contributing towards creating more decent and inclusive jobs.



Secure adequate financing of the transition towards a socially just circular economy. Forwardlooking policies are needed to scale up financing towards the circular and just transition. These would, for example, include creating a social taxonomy, strengthening and making compulsory the qualifying social and environmental criteria for public procurement and EU funds, and financing education and training to address potential skills mismatches. These could help give a clear signal and certainty to investors and businesses to scale up their action.



Enhance synergies between business and government to ensure that circular policies contain strong social safeguards. Business and governments need to work closely together to embed social considerations in circular economy practices and implementation and jointly increase ambition. This could be through focused stakeholder fora and an increase in public–private partnerships. Governments must promote labour rights, education and training policies that enable workers to thrive in the circular economy, offer capacity-building for businesses, and create a conducive environment for scaling up circular economy startups and innovative technologies. Meanwhile, businesses should be encouraged to demonstrate how circularity and decent work can be effectively combined.



Strengthen the coherence between social and circular economy policies. Certain circular economy and social policies have strong synergies. However, more explicit and measurable linkages between circular economy and social policies, particularly on the social economy, are needed to fully leverage the positive synergies between these policies to ensure a socially just transition to a circular economy.



Ensure that the transition to a circular economy is globally fair and just. Circular economy policies have impacts beyond the EU's boundaries. The trade of secondary products and materials, discarded products and waste can affect workers in the countries where these flows are currently directed, particularly in the Global South. Integrating circular economy objectives in customs and trade policies could help prevent some of these ripple effects. Supporting these countries in implementing and scaling up their own circular economy legislations, such as Extended Producer Responsibility schemes, could also help avoid job displacement.



Agree a shared definition of circular jobs that takes into account core, enabling and indirect circular jobs across the formal, informal and social economies. A shared definition set in legislation that is inclusive of all types of relevant jobs can provide a clear picture of the net employment gains in a circular economy. Such a definition could also help identify the categories of workers that can benefit from additional support during the transition.

References

¹ Mattias Lindahl and Carl Dalhammar, "The Circular Economy: Towards a New Business Paradigm with Support from Public Policy," *Stockholm +50 Background Paper Series*, Stockholm Environment Institute, May 2022, <u>https://www.sei.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/circular-economy-stockholm50backgroundpaper-corrected.pdf</u>.

² "Decent Work," ILO, accessed November 20, 2023, <u>https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/decent-work/lang--en/index.htm</u>.
 ³ "Informal Economy and Atypical Forms of Employment," ILO, accessed November 20, 2023,

https://www.ilo.org/actrav/areas/WCMS_DOC_ATR_ARE_INF_EN/lang--en/index.htm.

⁴ "Social Economy in the EU," European Commission, accessed November 14, 2023, <u>https://single-market-</u> <u>economy.ec.europa.eu/sectors/proximity-and-social-economy/social-economy-eu_en</u>.

⁵ "Social Economy in the EU," European Commission.

⁶ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL), *Business, Justice and the New Global Economy* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership, 2016), <u>https://www.cisl.cam.ac.uk/system/files/documents/Business-justice-and-the-new-global-economy.pdf</u>.

⁷ Janis Brizga and Saïd El Khadraoui, eds., *The Circular Economy and Green Jobs in the EU and Beyond* (FEPS, 2022), <u>https://feps-</u>europe.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/220224-circular-economy-final-book.pdf.

⁸ Paul Lucas, Hester Brink, and Mark van Oorschot, *Addressing International Impacts of the Dutch Circular Economy Transition: Challenges and Opportunities for Low- and Middle-Income Countries* (The Hague: PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, 2022), <u>https://www.pbl.nl/en/publications/addressing-international-impacts-of-the-dutch-circular-economy-transition</u>.

⁹ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL), *Circular Savings*.

¹⁰ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL), *Green Circularity*.

¹¹ Ellen MacArthur Foundation, *Completing the Picture: How the Circular Economy Tackles Climate Change* (2021), <u>https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/completing-the-picture</u>.

¹² Ellen MacArthur Foundation, Completing the Picture: How the Circular Economy Tackles Climate Change.

¹³ Julian Kirchherr, Denise Reike, and Marko Hekkert, "Conceptualizing the Circular Economy: An Analysis of 114 Definitions," *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 127 (December 2017): 221–32, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.09.005</u>.
 ¹⁴ Lindahl and Dalhammar, "The Circular Economy."

¹⁵ Anna Barford and Saffy Rose Ahmad, "A Call for a Socially Restorative Circular Economy: Waste Pickers in the Recycled Plastics Supply Chain," *Circular Economy and Sustainability* 1, no. 2 (September 2021): 761–82, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s43615-021-00056-7</u>.

¹⁶ United Nations Environment Programme and International Resource Panel, *Global Resources Outlook 2019: Natural Resources for the future we want – Summary for policymakers* (United Nations Environment Programme, 2019), *https://wedocs.unep.org/handle/20.500.11822/27518.*

¹⁷ OECD, Global Material Resources Outlook to 2060: Economic drivers and environmental consequences, (OECD, 2018), https://www.oecd.org/environment/waste/highlights-global-material-resources-outlook-to-2060.pdf.

¹⁸ "The European Green Deal," European Commission, accessed November 14, 2023, <u>https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal_en</u>.

¹⁹ "xCircular Economy Action Plan," European Commission, accessed November 17, 2023,

https://environment.ec.europa.eu/strategy/circular-economy-action-

plan_en#:~:text=lt%20targets%20how%20products%20are,for%20as%20long%20as%20possible.

²⁰ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL), *Working Towards a Climate Neutral Europe: Jobs and Skills in a Changing World* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership, 2020),

https://www.corporateleadersgroup.com/system/files/documents/working-towards-a-climate-neutral-europe.pdf. ²¹ "Circular Economy Action Plan," European Commission.

²² Theo Geerken, Shahrzad Manoochehri, and Emanuele Di Francesco, *Circular Economy Policy Innovation and Good Practice in Member States* (European Topic Centre on Circular economy and resource use, 2022), <u>https://www.eionet.europa.eu/etcs/etc-ce/products/draft-report-for-dg-env_final.pdf</u>.

²³ "Estrategia Española de Economía Circular y Planes de Acción," Vicepresidencia tercera del gobierno – Ministerio para la transición ecológica y el reto demográfico, accessed November 24, 2023, <u>https://www.miteco.gob.es/es/calidad-y-evaluacion-ambiental/temas/economia-circular/estrategia.html</u>.

²⁴ Trinomics, *European Social Partners' Project on Circular Economy - Final Report* (Rotterdam, 2021), https://resourcecentre.etuc.org/sites/default/files/2021-

10/Brochure%20Final%20report%20circular%20ecenomy EN v4 bis compressed.pdf.

²⁵ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL), *Green Circularity: Advancing the EU's Climate Goals through a Circular Economy* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership, 2022),

https://www.corporateleadersgroup.com/files/green circularity advancing the eus climate goals through a circular econo my1.pdf.

²⁶ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL), *Circular Savings: Business Perspectives on Energy Savings through Circular Practices* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership, 2023), https://www.corporateleadersgroup.com/files/cisl policy brief circular savings 11 may 2023.pdf.

²⁷ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL) and the Wuppertal Institute, *Embracing Circularity: A Pathway for Strengthening the Critical Raw Materials Act* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership,

2023), https://www.corporateleadersgroup.com/files/cisl embracing circularity report v5.pdf.

²⁸ Cambridge Econometrics, Trinomics, and ICF, *Impacts of Circular Economy Policies on the Labour Market* (European Commission Directorate-General for Environment, 2018),

https://circulareconomy.europa.eu/platform/sites/default/files/ec 2018 -

impacts of circular economy policies on the labour market.pdf.

²⁹ RREUSE, *Briefing on Job Creation Potential in the Re-Use Sector* (RREUSE, September 2015), <u>https://www.rreuse.org/wp-content/uploads/Final-briefing-on-reuse-jobs-website-2.pdf</u>.

³⁰ Esther Goodwin Brown et al., *The Social Economy: A Means for Inclusive & Decent Work in the Circular Economy?* (Circular Jobs Initiative, 2020), <u>https://assets-global.website-</u>

files.com/5d26d80e8836af2d12ed1269/5fd7724a66651a68b9abb2cd_20201214%20-%20CJI%20-%20report%20-%20297x210mm.pdf.

³¹ Trinomics, European Social Partners' Project on Circular Economy.

³² Anita Orav, *Migrant Women and the EU Labour Market: Overcoming Double Discrimination* (European Parliamentary Research Service, May 2023), https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2023/747905/EPRS_BRI(2023)747905_EN.pdf
 ³³ Alejandro Padilla-Rivera, Sara Russo-Garrido, and Nicolas Merveille, "Addressing the Social Aspects of a Circular Economy: A

Systematic Literature Review," *Sustainability* 12, no. 19 (2020): 7912, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12197912</u>.

³⁴ European Parliament, *European Parliament Resolution of 23 November 2023 on Job Creation – The Just Transition and Impact Investments* (Strasbourg, 2023), <u>2022/2170(INI)</u>, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2023-0438_EN.html

³⁵ European Parliament, "Amendments Adopted by the European Parliament on 21 November 2023 on the Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on Establishing a Framework of Measures for Strengthening Europe's Net-Zero Technology Products Manufacturing Ecosystem (Net Zero Industry Act)" (Strasbourg, 2023), P9_TA(2023)0401, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2023-0401_EN.html.

³⁶ Brian Baldassarre and Hans Saveyn, *A Systematic Analysis of EU Publications on the Circular Economy*, EUR 31491 EN (Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2023),

https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC133158.

³⁷ Julian Kirchherr, "Towards Circular Justice: A Proposition," *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 173 (2021): 105712, <u>https://dspace.library.uu.nl/bitstream/handle/1874/412325/1 s2.0 S0921344921003219 main.pdf;jsessionid=D05875E95945B</u> <u>79DBC826A812449795A?sequence=1</u>.

³⁸ Cambridge Econometrics, Trinomics, and ICF, *Impacts of Circular Economy Policies on the Labour Market*.

³⁹ Trinomics, European Social Partners' Project on Circular Economy.

⁴⁰ Rebecca Clube, "Is Job Creation a Legitimate Social Benefit of the Circular Economy?," *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 181 (2022): 106220, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106220</u>.

⁴¹ Vera Weghmann, Waste Management in Europe (EPSU, February 2023),

https://www.epsu.org/sites/default/files/article/files/Waste%20Management%20in%20Europe_EN.pdf.

⁴² Martijn Burger et al., "The Heterogeneous Skill-Base of Circular Economy Employment," *Research Policy* 48, no. 1 (2019): 248–261, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.08.015.

⁴³ Circle Economy and the United Nations Environment Programme, *The Circular Jobs Methodology* (2021), <u>https://www.circle-</u> economy.com/resources/circular-jobs-methodology.

⁴⁴ "Circular Jobs Monitor," accessed November 14, 2023, <u>https://www.circular-jobs.world/</u>.

⁴⁵ M. Esteban Muñoz H. et al., "Tracking a Circular Economy Transition Through Jobs: Method Development and Application in Two Cities," *Frontiers in Sustainable Cities* 3 (2022), <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/frsc.2021.787076</u>.

⁴⁶ ILO, *Overview of the Informal Economy in the European Union* (ILO, n.d.), <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---</u> europe/---ro-geneva/---sro-budapest/documents/genericdocument/wcms 751319.pdf.

⁴⁷ ILO, Women and Men in the Informal Economy: A Statistical Picture (Geneva: ILO, 2018),

https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/publication/wcms 626831.pdf.

⁴⁸ Anne Scheinberg, Jelena Nesić, and Rachel Savain, "From Collision to Collaboration – Integrating Informal Recyclers and Re-Use Operators in Europe: A Review," *Waste Management & Research* 34, no. 9 (2016): 820–839, https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X16657608.

⁴⁹ Circle Economy and the United Nations Environment Programme, *The Circular Jobs Methodology*.

⁵⁰ Burger et al., "The Heterogeneous Skill-Base of Circular Economy Employment."

⁵¹ Friedrich Schneider and Alban Asllani, *Taxation of the Informal Economy in the EU* (European Parliament Policy Department for Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life Policies, 2022),

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2022/734007/IPOL STU(2022)734007 EN.pdf.

⁵² Schneider and Asllani, *Taxation of the Informal Economy in the EU*.

⁵³ Frithjof Laubinger, Elisa Lanzi, and Jean Chateau, "Labour Market Consequences of a Transition to a Circular Economy: A Review Paper," *Environment Working Paper* N°162 (2020), https://one.oecd.org/document/ENV/WKP(2020)9/En/pdf.

⁵⁴ Leandro Javier Llorente-González and Xavier Vence, "How Labour-Intensive is the Circular Economy? A Policy-Orientated Structural Analysis of the Repair, Reuse and Recycling Activities in the European Union," *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 162 (2020): 105033, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.105033</u>.

⁵⁵ Gwen Willeghems and Kris Bachus, "Employment Impact of the Transition to a Circular Economy in Flanders," Paper submitted to the Sixth GGKP Annual Conference/2018 OECD Green Growth and Sustainable Development Forum, 27-29 November 2018, https://www.greenpolicyplatform.org/sites/default/files/uploads/Kris%20Bachus%20et%20al%20-

%20Employment%20impact%20of%20the%20transition%20to%20a%20circular%20economy_0.pdf.

⁵⁶ Morgan and Mitchell, *Employment and the Circular Economy*.

⁵⁷ Clube, "Is Job Creation a Legitimate Social Benefit of the Circular Economy?."

⁵⁸ Weghmann, Waste Management in Europe.

⁵⁹ OECD and European Commission, "Policy Brief on Making the Most of the Social Economy's Contribution to the Circular Economy," *OECD Local Economic and Employment Development (LEED) Papers*, No. 2022/01 (Paris: OECD Publishing, 2022), 32, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/e9eea313-en</u>.

⁶⁰ Goodwin Brown et al., *The Social Economy*.

⁶¹ Weghmann, Waste Management in Europe.

⁶² Zhuowen Chen, Abdullah Yildizbasi, and Joseph Sarkis, "How Safe is the Circular Economy?," *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 188 (2023): 106649, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106649</u>.

⁶³ Joke Dufourmont et al., *Avoiding Blind Spots: Promoting Circular & Fair Business Models* (Circular Economy, 2020), https://assets-global.website-files.com/5d26d80e8836af2d12ed1269/5fc4d55d42ec471380dfb8e6_20201130%20-%20EEB%20-%20report%20web-%20297x210mm.pdf.

⁶⁴ Goodwin Brown et al., *The Social Economy*.

⁶⁵ "Social Economy in the EU," European Commission.

⁶⁶ "Social Economy in the EU," European Commission.

⁶⁷ OECD, "Boosting Social Entrepreneurship and Social Enterprise Development in Ireland: In-depth policy review," OECD Local Economic and Employment Development (LEED) Papers, No. 2023/20 (Paris: OECD Publishing, 2023),

https://doi.org/10.1787/3115bcb6-en.

⁶⁸ Didier Chabanet and Patrick Gilormini, *Case Study of Envie – France* (FAB-MOVE, n.d.), <u>https://fabmove.eu/case_study/case_study-of-envie-france/</u>.

⁶⁹ Brizga and El Khadraoui, eds., The Circular Economy and Green Jobs in the EU and Beyond.

⁷⁰ "Commission Proposal on Developing Social Economy Framework Conditions," European Commission, June 13, 2023, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?langId=en&catId=89&furtherNews=yes&newsId=10594#:~:text=The%20proposal%20aims</u> <u>%20to%20advance,favourable%20environment%20for%20the%20sector</u>.

⁷¹ Cambridge Econometrics, Trinomics, and ICF, *Impacts of Circular Economy Policies on the Labour Market*.

⁷² Weghmann, Waste Management in Europe.

⁷³ Nina Monsen and Bjørn Pettersen, "Chapter 1 Norway: Bankruptcy Sparks More than 100 Cases of Remunicipalisation," in *The Future is Public*, eds. Satoko Kishimoto, Lavinia Steinfort, and Olivier Petitjean (Transnational Institute (TNI) et al., 2020), https://www.tni.org/files/futureispublic_chapter_1.pdf.

⁷⁴ Lis J. Suarez-Visbal et al., "The Social Impacts of Circular Strategies in the Apparel Value Chain; a Comparative Study Between Three Countries," *Circular Economy and Sustainability* 3, no. 2 (June 2023): 757–790, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s43615-022-00203-8</u>.

⁷⁵ Anna Barford et al., *The Case for Living Wages: How Paying Living Wages Improves Business Performance and Tackles Poverty* (Business Fights Poverty, University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership, and Shift, 2022), https://www.cisl.cam.ac.uk/resources/publications/case-for-living-wages.

⁷⁶ Barford et al., *The Case for Living Wages*, 9–11.

⁷⁷ Stan De Spiegelaere, "Put Your Money Where Your Mouth Is. Why and How the EU Needs to Change Its Public Spending Policies to Promote a Social Europe," UNI Europa Snapshot Report 2021 – 03 (Brussels: UNI Europa, 2021), <u>https://www.uni-</u>europa.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2021/11/Public-procurement-December-2021-snapshot-report.pdf.

⁷⁸ Mayya Saliba et al., *Decent Work in the Circular Economy. An Overview of the Existing Evidence Base* (International Labour Organization, Circle Economy, and the Solutions for Youth Employment (S4YE) Programme of the World Bank, 2023), <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_dialogue/---sector/documents/publication/wcms_881337.pdf</u>.

⁷⁹ Chris Hartmann, Christine Hegel, and Owusu Boampong, "The Forgotten Essential Workers in the Circular Economy? Waste Picker Precarity and Resilience amidst the COVID-19 Pandemic," *Local Environment* 27, no. 10–11 (2022): 1272–1286, https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13549839.2022.2040464.

⁸⁰ Taylor Cass Talbott et al., "Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) and Waste Pickers," WIEGO Technical Brief No 15 (Manchester, UK: WIEGO, 2022), <u>https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/publications/file/technical-brief-no-15.pdf</u>.
⁸¹ Scheinberg, Nesić, and Savain, "From Collision to Collaboration."

⁸² Miloš Jovičić et al., "Assessment of the Fragility of the Municipal Waste Sector in Serbia Using System Dynamics Modelling," *Sustainability* 14, no. 2 (2022): 862, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su14020862</u>.

 ⁸³ Višnja Baćanović et al., Inclusion of Informal Collectors into the Evolving Waste Management System in Serbia (Belgrade: Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) and GmbH Climate Sensitive Waste Management (DKTI), 2018), <u>https://www.giz.de/en/downloads/inclusion-of-informal-collectors-into-the-evolving-waste-management.pdf</u>.
 ⁸⁴ Baćanović et al., Inclusion of Informal Collectors.

⁸⁵ Michael Rendon, Josep Espluga-Trenc, and Joan-Miquel Verd, "Assessing the Functional Relationship between the Formal and Informal Waste Systems: A Case-Study in Catalonia (Spain)," *Waste Management* 131 (2021): 483–490, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0956053X21003743.

⁸⁶ Scheinberg, Nesić, and Savain, "From Collision to Collaboration."

⁸⁷ Jakob T. Pruess, "Unraveling the Complexity of Extended Producer Responsibility Policy Mix Design, Implementation, and Transfer Dynamics in the European Union," *Journal of Industrial Ecology* (2023), <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.13429</u>.
 ⁸⁸ Weghmann, *Waste Management in Europe*.

⁸⁹ Baćanović et al., *Inclusion of Informal Collectors*.

⁹⁰ Vera Weghmann, *Waste Management in Europe. Good Jobs in the Circular Economy*? (Brussels: EPSU, 2017), <u>https://www.epsu.org/sites/default/files/article/files/Waste%20Management%20in%20Europe.%20Good%20Jobs%20in%20the</u> %20Circular%20Economy%20for%20web.pdf.

⁹¹ Holger Berg et al., "Digital Waste Management," *Eionet Report - ETC/WMGE 2020/4* (Mol: European Topic Centre on Waste and Materials in a Green Economy, September 2020), <u>https://www.eionet.europa.eu/etcs/etc-wmge/products/etc-wmge-reports/digital-waste-management</u>.

⁹² European Court of Auditors, "Circular Economy – Slow Transition by Member States despite EU Action," *Special Report 17/2023* (Luxembourg: European Court of Auditors, 2023), <u>https://www.eca.europa.eu/ECAPublications/SR-2023-17/SR-2023-</u>
 <u>17</u> EN.pdf.

⁹³ Vera Weghmann, *Safe Jobs in the Circular Economy. Health and Safety in Waste and Wastewater Management* (EPSU, 2020), https://www.epsu.org/sites/default/files/article/files/FINAL_Safe%20Jobs%20in%20the%20Circular%20Economy_EN.pdf.

⁹⁴ Olusegun Odeyingbo, Innocent Nnorom, and Otmar Deubzer, *Person in the Port Project: Assessing Import of Used Electrical and Electronic Equipment into Nigeria* (Bonn: UNU-ViE SCYCLE and BCCC Africa, 2017),

https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6349/PiP_Report.pdf.

⁹⁵ "Waste Management in the EU: Infographic with Facts and Figures," European Parliament, last updated November 15, 2023, <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/headlines/society/20180328STO00751/waste-management-in-the-eu-infographic-with-facts-and-figures</u>.

⁹⁶ Patrick Schröder, "Promoting a Just Transition to an Inclusive Circular Economy," *Research Paper* (London: Chatham House, the Royal Institute of International Affairs, 2020), <u>https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/2020-04-01-inclusive-circular-economy-schroder.pdf</u>.

⁹⁷ Hartmann, Hegel, and Boampong, "The Forgotten Essential Workers."

⁹⁸ Barford and Ahmad, "A Call for a Socially Restorative Circular Economy."

⁹⁹ Human Rights Watch, *"It's as if They're Poisoning Us": The Health Impacts of Plastic Recycling in Turkey* (Human Rights Watch, 2022), <u>https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/media 2022/09/turkey0922web 0.pdf</u>.

¹⁰⁰ Cass Talbott et al., "Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) and Waste Pickers."

¹⁰¹ Saliba et al., *Decent Work in the Circular Economy*.

¹⁰² Art. 16, "Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on Waste and Repealing Certain Directives," *Official Journal of the European Union* L 312/3, November 22, 2008,

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:02008L0098-20180705.

¹⁰³ Human Rights Watch, "It's as if They're Poisoning Us".

¹⁰⁴ Barford and Ahmad, "A Call for a Socially Restorative Circular Economy."

¹⁰⁵ Paul Lucas, Hester Brink, and Mark van Oorschot, Addressing International Impacts of the Dutch Circular Economy Transition. ¹⁰⁶ Hester Brink et al., Potential Effects of Dutch Circular Economy Strategies on Low- and Middle-Income Countries: The Case of Electrical and Electronic Equipment (The Hague: PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, 2021),

https://www.pbl.nl/en/publications/potential-effects-of-dutch-circular-economy-policies-on-low-and-middle-income-countriesthe-case-of-electrical-and.

¹⁰⁷ Brink et al., Potential Effects of Dutch Circular Economy Strategies.

¹⁰⁸ Madeleine Cobbing et al., *Poisoned Gifts. From Donations to the Dumpsite: Textiles Waste Disguised as Second-Hand Clothes Exported to East Africa* (Hamburg: Greenpeace Germany, 2022), <u>https://www.greenpeace.org/static/planet4-international-</u> <u>stateless/2022/04/9f50d3de-greenpeace-germany-poisoned-fast-fashion-briefing-factsheet-april-2022.pdf</u>.

¹⁰⁹ "Extended Producer Responsibility Isn't Enough to Tackle the Global 'Fashion Waste Mountain'. Here's Why," *Circle Economy's Blog*, May 3, 2023, <u>https://www.circle-economy.com/blog/extended-producer-responsibility-isnt-enough-to-tackle-the-global-fashion-waste-mountain-heres-why</u>.

¹¹⁰ OECD and European Commission, "Policy Brief on Making the Most of the Social Economy's Contribution to the Circular Economy."

¹¹¹ Ursula von der Leyen [candidate for President of the European Commission], "A Union That Strives for More. My Agenda for Europe. Political Guidelines for the next European Commission 2019-2024," European Commission [c 2019], https://commission.europa.eu/system/files/2020-04/political-guidelines-next-commission_en_0.pdf.

¹¹² "The European Commission's Priorities," European Commission, accessed November 17, 2023,

https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/priorities-2019-2024 en.

¹¹³ European Commission, *Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: The European Green Deal* (Brussels, 2019), COM(2019) 640 final, <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:b828d165-1c22-11ea-8c1f-</u>01aa75ed71a1.0002.02/DOC 1&format=PDF.

¹¹⁴ von der Leyen, "A Union That Strives for More."

¹¹⁵ "Circular Economy Action Plan," European Commission.

¹¹⁶ Cambridge Econometrics, Trinomics, and ICF, Impacts of Circular Economy Policies on the Labour Market.

¹¹⁷ "Persons Employed in Circular Economy Sectors," Eurostat, last updated July 20, 2022,

https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/CEI_CIE011__custom_6101297/bookmark/map?lang=en&bookmarkId=2c809 d6c-cb60-464a-b404-dabcae6a01d2&highlight=EU27_2020.

¹¹⁸ European Commission, "Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council Establishing a Framework for Setting Ecodesign Requirements for Sustainable Products and Repealing Directive 2009/125/EC" (Brussels, 2022), COM(2022) 142 final, <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52022PC0142</u>.

¹¹⁹ European Parliament, "Ecodesign Regulation Amendments Adopted by the European Parliament on 12 July 2023 on the Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council Establishing a Framework for Setting Eco-Design Requirements for Sustainable Products and Repealing Directive 2009/125/EC (COM(2022)0142 – C9-0132/2022 –

2022/0095(COD))" (2023), P9_TA(2023)0272, <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2023-0272_EN.pdf</u>. ¹²⁰ European Environmental Bureau (EEB), "Letter to Support the Consideration for Social and Due Diligence Aspects under the Ecodesign for Sustainable Products Regulation (ESPR)," Brussels, October 25, 2023, <u>https://eeb.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2023/10/Joint-letter-on-ESPR_October-2023.pdf.

¹²¹ "Right to Repair: Commission Introduces New Consumer Rights for Easy and Attractive Repairs," European Commission, March 22, 2023, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip</u> 23 1794.

¹²² European Commission, "Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on Common Rules Promoting the Repair of Goods and Amending Regulation (EU) 2017/2394, Directives (EU) 2019/771 and (EU) 2020/1828" (Brussels, 2023), COM(2023) 155 final,

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/docs_autres_institutions/commission_europeenne/com/2023/0155/COM_COM(202 3)0155_EN.pdf.

¹²³ Agata Meysner and Jesus Urios, *The 'Right to Repair': Addressing Social and Environmental Spillovers in the Electrical and Electronic Equipment Sector* (Institute for European Environmental Policy, July 2022), <u>https://ieep.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/Policy-brief The-right-to-repair IEEP-2022.pdf</u>.

¹²⁴ "Sustainable Consumption of Goods – Promoting Repair and Reuse," European Commission, accessed November 17, 2023, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/better-regulation/have-your-say/initiatives/13150-Sustainable-consumption-of-goods-promoting-repair-and-reuse en</u>.

¹²⁵ European Commission, "Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on Packaging and Packaging Waste, Amending Regulation (EU) 2019/1020 and Directive (EU) 2019/904, and Repealing Directive 94/62/EC" (Brussels, 2022), COM(2022) 677 final,

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/docs autres institutions/commission europeenne/com/2022/0677/COM COM(202 2)0677 EN.pdf.

¹²⁶ European Commission, "Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on Packaging and Packaging Waste."

¹²⁷ "Construction Sector," European Commission, accessed November 17, 2023, <u>https://single-market-economy.ec.europa.eu/sectors/construction_en</u>.

¹²⁸ "Questions & Answers: Revision of the Construction Products Regulation," European Commission, March 30, 2022, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/QANDA 22 2121.

¹²⁹ European Commission, "Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council Laying down Harmonised Conditions for the Marketing of Construction Products, Amending Regulation (EU) 2019/1020 and Repealing Regulation (EU) 305/2011" (Brussels, 2022), COM(2022) 144 final,

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/docs autres institutions/commission europeenne/com/2022/0144/COM COM(202 2)0144 EN.pdf.

¹³⁰ European Commission, *The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan* (Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2021), <u>https://op.europa.eu/webpub/empl/european-pillar-of-social-rights/en/#infographic-main</u>.

¹³¹ European Commission, The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan.

¹³² European Commission, *Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Building an Economy That Works for People: An Action Plan for the Social Economy (Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2021),* https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docld=24984&langld=en.

¹³³ "European Social Fund Plus — ESF+ (2021-2027)," EUR-Lex, 2021, <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/EN/legal-content/summary/european-social-fund-plus-esf-2021-</u>

2027.html#:~:text=WHAT%20IS%20THE%20AIM%20OF,rules%20for%20providing%20such%20funding.

¹³⁴ "Regulation (EU) 2021/1057 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 June 2021 Establishing the European Social Fund Plus (ESF+) and Repealing Regulation (EU) No 1296/2013," *Official Journal of the European Union* L 231/21, June 30, 2021, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32021R1057.

¹³⁵ "European Skills Agenda," European Commission, accessed November 20, 2023,

https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1223&langId=en.

¹³⁶ "European Skills Agenda for Sustainable Competitiveness, Social Fairness and Resilience," European Commission, July 1, 2020, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/migrant-integration/library-document/european-skills-agenda-sustainable-competitiveness-social-fairness-and-resilience_en</u>.

¹³⁷ Simona Cavallini and Rossella Soldi, *Europe's Circular Economy and Its Pact for Skills: Working Together for an Inclusive and Job-Rich Transition?* (Brussels: European Economic and Social Committee, 2023), <u>https://www.eesc.europa.eu/en/our-work/publications-other-work/publications/europes-circular-economy-and-its-pact-skills-working-together-inclusive-and-job-rich-transition</u>.

¹³⁸ European Commission, *What Is the Pact for Skills*? (European Commission, 2023), <u>https://pact-for-skills-ec.europa.eu/system/files/2023-05/Pact-for-Skills-Infosheet-May-23-V2.pdf</u>.

¹³⁹ "Pact for Skills: Commission Facilitates Upskilling and Reskilling of Workers in the Construction Ecosystem," European Commission, February 8, 2022, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=89&furtherNews=yes&newsId=10160&langId=en</u>.
 ¹⁴⁰ "European Year of Skills," European Union, accessed November 20, 2023, <u>https://year-of-skills.europa.eu/index_en</u>.

¹⁴¹ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL), *Green Circularity*.

¹⁴² "EUR 10 Billion to Support the Circular Economy in the EU," European Investment Bank, July 18, 2019,

https://www.eib.org/en/press/all/2019-191-eur-10-billion-to-support-the-circular-economy-in-the-eu.

¹⁴³ Circular STEP, "Mobilizing Financing for the Circular Economy," *Circular Economy Transition Paper Series* (Geneva: UNECE, 2022), https://unece.org/sites/default/files/2023-04/CIRCULAR-STEP%20Mobilizing%20Financing-%204.28.2023_0.pdf.

¹⁴⁴ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL), *Investing in Quality Jobs for a Just Transition: Enhancing Disclosure for Better Measurement of Investment Impact on Decent Work* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership, 2022), <u>https://www.cisl.cam.ac.uk/files/ilg_enhancing_investment_disclosure_on_decent_work.pdf</u>.

¹⁴⁵ "EU Taxonomy for Sustainable Activities," European Commission, accessed November 20, 2023,

https://finance.ec.europa.eu/sustainable-finance/tools-and-standards/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities en.

¹⁴⁶ European Commission, "Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) of 27.6.2023 Supplementing Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council by Establishing the Technical Screening Criteria for Determining the Conditions under Which an Economic Activity Qualifies as Contributing Substantially to the Sustainable Use and Protection of Water and Marine Resources, to the Transition to a Circular Economy, to Pollution Prevention and Control, or to the Protection and Restoration of Biodiversity and Ecosystems and for Determining Whether That Economic Activity Causes No Significant Harm to Any of the Other Environmental Objectives and Amending Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2178 as Regards Specific Public Disclosures for Those Economic Activities" (Brussels, 2023), C(2023) 3851 final, <u>https://finance.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2023-06/taxonomy-regulation-delegated-act-2022-environmental en 0.pdf</u>.

¹⁴⁷ Platform on Sustainable Finance, *Final Report on Social Taxonomy* (February 2022),

https://commission.europa.eu/system/files/2022-03/280222-sustainable-finance-platform-finance-report-social-taxonomy.pdf. ¹⁴⁸ European Commission, *The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan*.

¹⁴⁹ Gina Gambetta, "European Financial Institutions Call for Social Investment Framework," Responsible Investor, October 12, 2023, <u>https://www.responsible-investor.com/european-financial-institutions-call-for-social-investment-framework/</u>.

¹⁵⁰ Gambetta, "European Financial Institutions Call for Social Investment Framework."

¹⁵¹ European Environmental Bureau and Eunomia, *Circular Taxation. A Policy Approach to Reduce Resource Use and Accelerate the Transition to a Circular Economy* (Brussels: European Environmental Bureau, 2022), <u>https://eeb.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Circular-Taxation-study-EEB-Final-Report.pdf</u>.

¹⁵² "Venture Capital for Transformation," European Circular Bioeconomy Fund, accessed November 24, 2023, https://www.ecbf.vc/.

¹⁵³ "Public Procurement," European Commission, accessed November 24, 2023, <u>https://single-market-</u> economy.ec.europa.eu/single-market/public-procurement_en.

¹⁵⁴ Cathrine Hernández Festersen and Stan De Spiegelaere, "Green, Pave the Way for Social! How the EU's Green Public Procurement Can Forge a Path towards Socially Responsible Public Procurement," UNI Europa Report 2023 – 03 (October 2023), https://www.uni-europa.org/news/new-report-green-pave-the-way-for-social/.

¹⁵⁵ Valentina Caimi and Silvia Sansonetti, *The Social Impact of Public Procurement: Can the EU Do More?* (Luxembourg: European Parliament Policy Department for Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life Policies, 2023),

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2023/740095/IPOL STU(2023)740095 EN.pdf.

¹⁵⁶ Caimi and Sansonetti, *The Social Impact of Public Procurement*.

¹⁵⁷ Hernández Festersen and De Spiegelaere, "Green, Pave the Way for Social!."

¹⁵⁸ Hernández Festersen and De Spiegelaere, "Green, Pave the Way for Social!."

¹⁵⁹ AGE Platform et al., "Do not Lose Momentum on the Social Taxonomy: Joint Letter to the European Commission," June 26, 2023, https://www.eapn.eu/do-not-lose-momentum-on-the-social-taxonomy-open-letter/.

¹⁶⁰ "Business Demography Statistics," Eurostat, data from November 2023, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-</u>

explained/index.php?title=Business demography statistics.

¹⁶¹ Trinomics, European Social Partners' Project on Circular Economy.

¹⁶² Anna M. Walker et al., "Assessing the Social Sustainability of Circular Economy Practices: Industry Perspectives from Italy and the Netherlands," *Sustainable Production and Consumption* 27 (2021): 831–844, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2021.01.030.

¹⁶³ Walker et al., "Assessing the Social Sustainability of Circular Economy Practices."

¹⁶⁴ University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL), *Innovation for Sustainability: The Driving Force of Circular Economy Start-Ups* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership, 2023),

https://www.cisl.cam.ac.uk/files/innovation_for_sustainability.pdf.

¹⁶⁵ "Frontrunners in Circular Denim," Mud Jeans, accessed November 24, 2023, <u>https://mudjeans.eu/pages/sustainability-our-impact</u>.

¹⁶⁶ "Nothing Is Possible with Our Roadmap to Zero-Emission Aluminium Production," Hydro, updated August 31, 2023, https://www.hydro.com/en/media/on-the-agenda/hydros-roadmap-to-zero-emission-aluminium-production/.

¹⁶⁷ "New Casting Line Opens in Rackwitz to Meet Growing Demand for Low-Carbon Aluminium," Hydro, September 14, 2023, <u>https://www.hydro.com/en-BE/media/news/2023/new-casting-line-opens-in-rackwitz-to-meet-growing-demand-for-low-carbon-aluminium/.</u>

¹⁶⁸ "Hydro Signs Contract to Buy Land in Spain for Building Aluminium Recycling Plant," Hydro, June 9, 2023, <u>https://www.hydro.com/en-BE/media/news/2023/hydro-signs-contract-to-buy-land-in-spain-for-building-aluminium-recycling-plant/</u>. ¹⁶⁹ "Hydro Invests in Modernization of Alumetal Recycling Plant in Kęty, Poland," Hydro, September 8, 2023, https://www.hydro.com/en-BE/media/news/2023/hydro-invests-in-modernization-of-alumetal-recycling-plant-in-kty-poland/.

¹⁷⁰ "A Just Transition to Circular Economy," Just2ce, accessed November 20, 2023, <u>https://just2ce.eu/about-us/</u>.

¹⁷¹ "E-Waste Management System in Campania," Just2ce, accessed November 20, 2023, <u>https://just2ce.eu/case-studies/case-study-e-waste-management-system-in-campania/</u>.

¹⁷² Jerry van den Berge, "Working towards Decent 'Green' Jobs in the Waste Industry," *HesaMag #09 – Special report 3/32* (2014), <u>https://www.etui.org/sites/default/files/Hesamag_09_EN-12-16.pdf</u>.

¹⁷³ We Mean Business Coalition, accessed November 14, 2023, <u>https://www.wemeanbusinesscoalition.org/</u>.

¹⁷⁴ Paul Lucas, Hester Brink, and Mark van Oorschot, Addressing International Impacts of the Dutch Circular Economy Transition.